RECEIVED

Jun 17 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County
Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOSEPH RANDOLPH HENRY,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-001404

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

In this murder case where the State's key witnesses who blamed appellant for the crime were caught on video hiding evidence after the victim's death, did the trial court err in refusing to allow appellant to cross-examine one of these witnesses about his prior conviction for giving false information to police?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In March 2020, a Lexington County grand jury indicted appellant for murder and a weapons charge. R. _____. On September 28, 2020, appellant was tried before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr. and a jury. Tr. 1. L. Suzanne Mayes and Angela G. Martin represented the State. Tr. 1. David M. Mauldin and Robert M. Madsen represented appellant. Tr. 1. The jury convicted appellant. Tr. 709, l. 3 – 10. Judge Addy sentenced appellant to thirty-five years' imprisonment for murder and a consecutive five years' imprisonment on the weapons charge. Tr. 753, l. 24 – 754, l. 8. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review is abuse of discretion. State v. Broadnax, 414 S.C. 468, 779 S.E.2d 789 (2015).

ARGUMENT

In this murder case where the State's key witnesses who blamed appellant for the crime were caught on video hiding evidence after the victim's death, the trial court erred in refusing to allow appellant to cross-examine one of these witnesses about his prior conviction for giving false information to police.

Factual Background

The police arrested Joseph Henry ("Henry") shortly after the shooting of Alexis Azarigian ("Azarigian") on the word of two supposed eyewitnesses. Tr. 215, l. 7 – 219, l. 16. Tr. 257, l. 9 – 21. The two eyewitnesses were drug addicts and hid evidence immediately after the shooting. Tr. 540, l. 2 – 541, l. 4. Tr. 605, l. 4 – 606, l. 16. State's Ex. 42. The police arrived at a church parking lot on Augusta Road in Lexington at 7:46AM and found Azarigian with a gunshot wound to the head sitting in the front passenger seat of her car. Tr. 169, l. 1 – 177, l. 17.

The two witnesses who blamed Henry for the shooting were Joshua Murray ("Murray") and Kaitlyn Skyrme ("Skyrme"). Tr. 553, l. 9 – 554, l. 17. Tr. 622, l. 9 – 623, l. 12. Murray and Skyrme said that the four of them, along with various other unknown persons, had been using drugs in the hours leading up to Azarigian being shot. Tr. 542, l. 21 – 548, l. 2. Tr. 611, l. 8 – 614, l. 11. Skyrme first met Azarigian during the encounter that led to her death. Tr. 613, l. 1 – 24. Skyrme had been "getting high" at a chop shop in Lexington and said Azarigian "was high as a kite" when she arrived at the chop shop with Murray. Tr. 611, l. 9 – 613, l. 15. Skyrme gave Azarigian a shot of methamphetamine. Tr. 613, l. 21 – 614, l. 11.

Skyrme was twenty-six years old at the time of trial and had been using drugs since she was "eleven, twelve." Tr. 605, l. 4 – 24. Even though she had used "Pretty much all of it" in her

life, in February 2019 she was mostly using heroin and meth. Tr. 606, l. 1 – 5. She wound up with the group through her connection to Mark “MJ” Hardaway. Tr. 605, l. 11 – 606, l. 16. She met Henry through Hardaway and knew Henry by the nickname “Pluto.” Tr. 606, l. 6 – 607, l. 2. She met Murray at the same time. Tr. 607, l. 13 – 23. Skyrme said she “was just kind of hanging out just meeting new people, I guess.” Tr. 606, l. 7 – 16.

The day before the shooting, the group was hanging out and went to a hotel to get high. Tr. 608, l. 1 – 609, l. 15. Skyrme said she saw Henry cleaning “a little black gun.” Tr. 608, l. 21 – 609, l. 15. Even though she said she was “a little intimidated” by it, she asked to hold the gun. Tr. 609, l. 2 – 15. When Henry finished cleaning the gun, he wrapped it up and put it in a bag. Tr. 609, l. 2 – 18. The police recovered a bag with a gun in it from the car where they arrested Henry shortly after the shooting. Tr. 284, l. 2 – 286, l. 16. Skyrme testified the gun recovered by the police “look[ed] like the same gun I held.” Tr. 609, l. 16 – 23. She also remembered the bag recovered by the police and described it as “a male purse.” Tr. 610, l. 8 – 19.

Skyrme, MJ, and Henry left the hotel because MJ had to go to work. Tr. 610, l. 23 – 611, l. 13. First they went to the chop shop in Lexington and dropped off Henry. Tr. 611, l. 8 – 13. After Skyrme and another person took MJ to work, they returned to the chop shop. Tr. 611, l. 9 – 22. Skyrme got high and described the place as a “hangout.” Tr. 611, l. 17 – 612, l. 18. Murray arrived at some point. Tr. 611, l. 14 – 613, l. 4. They picked up MJ from work and dropped Murray off at Wal-Mart. Tr. 612, l. 22 – 613, l. 4. Murray returned to the shop with Azarigian and she and Skyrme were introduced. Tr. 613, l. 3 – 20.

Skyrme, MJ, Murray, Azarigian, and Henry got into Azarigian’s car. Tr. 614, l. 2 – 615, l. 10. Azarigian floated the idea of going to a boat near her parents’ house in Chapin. Tr. 614, l. 2 – 615, l. 10. But on the way, they stopped at “somebody’s house and [Murray] said he had to

handle some business.” Tr. 614, l. 2 – 615, l. 10. Everyone but Murray stayed in the car. Tr. 614, l. 2 – 615, l. 10. They next went to the boat landing in Chapin and stayed until the sun came up. Tr. 615, l. 1 – 616, l. 19.

They left the boat landing and stopped at a gas station where Murray got behind the wheel. Tr. 616, l. 7 – 23. MJ was “acting real irate and like agitated” so the group dropped him off at the chop shop. Tr. 616, l. 20 – 617, l. 7. Henry was asleep and Skyrme was unsuccessful in waking him up. Tr. 616, l. 20 – 617, l. 7. When they left the garage, Murray drove, Azarigian was in the front passenger seat, Henry sat behind Murray, and Skyrme sat behind Azarigian. Tr. 617, l. 17 – 24.

The group decided to go shoplifting. Tr. 618, l. 8 – 19. Azarigian said a friend named Chad Andrews (“Andrews”) owed her money and they went to see him. Tr. 618, l. 8 – 619, l. 14. The group knew Andrews as a confidential informant for the police. Tr. 618, l. 8 – 619, l. 14. A police witness for the State confirmed that Andrews worked for the Lexington County Sheriff’s Department as a confidential informant. Tr. 592, l. 5 – 12. She said that Azarigian did not work as a confidential informant. Tr. 592, l. 13 – 15.

Azarigian wanted Andrews to go with them to shoplift, but the group said Andrews could not get into the car. Tr. 618, l. 8 – 619, l. 25. Skyrme claimed Henry and Azarigian began arguing about whether Azarigian’s friendship with Andrews also made her a snitch. Tr. 620, l. 1 – 20. Azarigian told Henry, “well then you better F’ing kill me.” Tr. 622, l. 1 – 5. The argument grew more heated and more profanities were exchanged. Tr. 622, l. 1 – 25.

Skyrme claimed that Henry then put his bag on his lap and she told him, “Don’t.” Tr. 623, l. 1 – 7. Henry “cut his eyes” at her to “shut [her] down.” Tr. 623, l. 1 – 5. Skyrme then

claimed that even though she “knew then what was gonna come,” she closed her eyes and “started to drift off to sleep.” Tr. 623, l. 1 – 12.

The “next thing” Skyrme heard was a “bam.” Tr. 623, l. 9 – 12. She opened her eyes and the car was “really smokey.” Tr. 623, l. 8 – 12. Skyrme told Henry, “You fucking shot her.” Tr. 623, l. 8 – 12. Henry supposedly replied, “You know who I am, you know what I do and I do what I say.” Tr. 623, l. 13 – 15. Henry then wrapped the gun in a black shirt. Tr. 624, l. 2 – 6. Murray pulled the car over into a church parking lot. Tr. 624, l. 22 – 625, l. 7. Henry got out of the car, talked and dapped with Murray, and then Henry “walked off all nonchalant.” Tr. 625, l. 2 – 7.

After Henry left, Skyrme claimed she told Murray “to give me what he had on him and I was gonna put it with my paraphernalia” before they flagged someone down. Tr. 625, l. 17 – 21. Skyrme had IV drug needles. Tr. 626, l. 20 – 627, l. 8. Murray had “either crack or meth” in a “large enough amount that me and him would both go to jail.” Tr. 627, l. 9 – 14. Murray earlier said it was seven grams of crack, which Skyrme agreed with defense counsel was “a substantial amount.” Tr. 646, l. 1 – 13. Skyrme hid their drugs in a bush. Tr. 627, l. 9 – 17. Murray admitted that later that night, after the police left, he went back to the scene and got the hidden items. Tr. 677, l. 2 – 4.

Neither of them had a working cell phone so they decided to flag down a passer-by. Tr. 625, l. 17 – 25. Jane Council was driving to work and stopped when she saw Murray “frantically” waving his arms. Tr. 150, l. 3 – 7. She looked in the car and saw Azarigian slumped over toward the dashboard. Tr. 152, l. 4 – 15. Council called 911. Tr. 152, l. 22 – 153, l. 3. The first officer on the scene arrived within approximately thirty seconds after the call came out from dispatch at 7:45AM. Tr. 167, l. 3 – 7.

Skyrme provided the officer with a description of Henry as a “black male wearing all gray with a gray beanie on” and told him the direction Henry traveled. Tr. 171, l. 11 – 20. They also told officers that Henry would be driving a small blue Toyota. Tr. 192, l. 12 – 16. The officers put this information out to other units on his radio. Tr. 171, l. 11 – 20. Tr. 192, l. 12 – 16.

A canine officer arrived and began walking down Augusta Road. Tr. 214, l. 8 – 215, l. 18. They saw a “suspect” which was Henry in a blue Toyota and stopped it. Tr. 215, l. 24 – 219, l. 16. MJ was also in the car when the police stopped it. Tr. 219, l. 8 – 17. The police arrested Henry. Tr. 257, l. 16 – 21.

Officer Pablo Carvajal “took charge” of Henry. Tr. 265, l. 22 – 24. Officer Carvajal noticed on Henry’s shirt “a brown stain to me that resembled blood.” Tr. 266, l. 9 – 16. The officers took photographs of the stain. Tr. 267, l. 7 – 19. When Henry was booked at the station, there was a hole in the shirt where the stain had been. Tr. 326, l. 1 – 328, l. 5. Under the driver’s seat of the Toyota, the police found a bag with a gun wrapped in a black hoodie. Tr. 284, l. 2 – 285, l. 24.

MJ testified that after leaving Chapin, they dropped him off at the garage. Tr. 397, l. 2 – 14. MJ described Murray and Azarigian as “acting strange” and that was why he asked to be dropped off. Tr. 407, l. 19 – 408, l. 19. Henry later called MJ and told him he was coming to pick him up. Tr. 399, l. 19 – 21. Henry did not say anything about a shooting. Tr. 400, l. 13 – 24. MJ had earlier discussed going to Hilton Head after he got his tax return and Henry brought up the idea of that trip. Tr. 400, l. 13 – 401, l. 16. When asked about Henry’s demeanor, MJ said, “Honestly, he was normal kind of. Normal kind of.” Tr. 401, l. 19 – 21. MJ recognized the bag and said Henry used it to carry his gun. Tr. 404, l. 21 – 405, l. 10.

Murray admitted he was a drug addict, to “methamphetamine mainly.” Tr. 540, l. 14 – 541, l. 4. He met Azarigian a month before the shooting. Tr. 541, l. 10 – 24. They used meth together. Tr. 541, l. 19 – 24. Murray said he had known Henry for two or three years. Tr. 542, l. 2 – 9.

Murray said Henry took him to the chop shop and that it was “more of a party scene than an actual working environment.” Tr. 544, l. 13 – 545, l. 9. Azarigian picked Murray up at the garage and they went to Wal-Mart. Tr. 545, l. 20 – 547, l. 9. They then went back to the garage and then out to Chapin. Tr. 547, l. 2 – 9. They used drugs. Tr. 548, l. 1 – 2. Azarigian and Murray sat and talked on the dock while everyone else stayed in the car. Tr. 548, l. 3 – 17.

Murray drove back into town because he “was the most sober.” Tr. 548, l. 18 – 549, l. 5. They dropped MJ off at the garage. Tr. 550, l. 12 – 14. Azarigian told Murray to stop to see Andrews because Andrews owed her eighty dollars. Tr. 548, l. 18 – 549, l. 5. Murray described Andrews as having a bad reputation “in the lifestyle” because he was “police affiliated.” Tr. 548, l. 18 – 549, l. 5.

When they pulled up to Andrews, he tried to get in the car. Tr. 548, l. 18 – 549, l. 5. Murray testified that he and Henry had “an issue with it because we just don’t want to associate like that. I mean, it just don’t look good. You know, in the lifestyle it does not look good.” Tr. 548, l. 18 – 549, l. 5. Murray said Andrews would wear a police badge and “bully people out of their money and drugs and stuff like that by threatening them with police retaliation.” Tr. 552, l. 3 – 9.

Murray said when they left, they were going back to Henry’s car and then Azarigian could leave “and pick up Chad Andrews and they can do whatever they want to do---“. Tr. 570, l. 1 – 15. Henry and Azarigian began “screaming at each other.” Tr. 553, l. 9 – 554, l. 17.

Azarigian threw a napkin at Henry then Murray saw Henry pull up a pistol and then a flash. Tr. 553, l. 9 – 554, l. 17.

Murray pulled over to the side of the road. Tr. 554, l. 6 – 17. The police obtained surveillance video from the business across the street. State's Ex. 42. Henry gets out of the backseat and then leans into the car. State's Ex. 42. When he gets out of the car completely, so does Murray. State's Ex. 42. Strangely, Murray and Henry hug. State's Ex. 42. Murray had obviously seen the video in preparation for trial and tried to explain his strange behavior towards someone who had just shot a friend in the back of the head, saying, "According to the video, I reach out and I hugged him, but I'm guessing that's—I don't know if it was instincts or what, I was just trying to pacify the situation." Tr. 554, l. 6 – 17.

Henry walks off. State's Ex. 42. He does not run and walks at a normal pace. State's Ex. 42. Skyrme gets out of the car and walks to Murray. State's Ex. 42. Skyrme and Murray walk behind the car and talk. State's Ex. 42. Skyrme walks away and Murray begins waving at cars. State's Ex. 42. Murray said on direct-examination that they decided to hide the drugs before getting help for Azarigian. Tr. 558, l. 23 – 560, l. 15. Contradicting Skyrme's testimony about the seven grams of crack, Murray said he gave Skyrme meth to hide for him. Tr. 575, l. 6 – 20. On redirect, the solicitor tried to get Murray to say the meth he handed Skyrme looked like crack cocaine and Murray said they were "Similar." Tr. 579, l. 21 -580, l. 6. Murray also testified, just like Skyrme, that Henry said, "I am who I say I am and I do what I say I'm gonna do," but admitted he told the police at the time that Henry said, "I'm not lying about what I am." Tr. 581, l. 5 – 14.

Discussion

At the end of Murray's direct examination, the solicitor asked him about two assault and battery convictions from 2012 and 2015. Tr. 565, l. 16 – 21. Murray also admitted to a drug charge from 2017. Tr. 565, l. 19 – 566, l. 2. After Murray finished testifying and the jury was excused, Judge Addy placed a prior objection and ruling on the record concerning Murray's criminal convictions. Tr. 582, l. 16 – 585, l. 11. Appellant sought to impeach Murray with a 2006 conviction for giving false information to police. Tr. 582, l. 16 – 585, l. 11. The court did not allow the impeachment. Tr. 582, l. 16 – 585, l. 11. Judge Addy said the facts of the conviction were that Murray borrowed his cousin's birth certificate for going to the DMV and getting a fake ID. Tr. 582, l. 16 – 585, l. 11. He ruled "that based on the specific facts of the false information charge that wasn't a situation where in my mind he was giving false information of a substantive or a serious—or a crime and trying to mislead the police in some substantive way." Tr. 582, l. 16 – 585, l. 11.

Defense counsel countered that he had seen no incident report regarding the conviction. Tr. 582, l. 16 – 585, l. 11. He argued that the information provided to the court came from Murray and "could be very self-serving." Tr. 582, l. 16 – 585, l. 11. Because of the importance of the credibility of Murray, the defense argued it was crucial to use the conviction for impeachment. Tr. 582, l. 16 – 585, l. 11.

The solicitor then admitted she did not research the conviction and "did get the information strictly from Mr. Murray." Tr. 582, l. 16 – 585, l. 11. Judge Addy cited Rule 609 and said the defense had only informed the State that morning of its intent to use the conviction for impeachment and perhaps limited the State's investigation, "but it is what it is and my ruling

stands.” Tr. 582, l. 16 – 585, l. 11. The court found the impeachment value was not substantial and “way too remote.” Tr. 582, l. 16 – 585, l. 11.

The trial judge erred in refusing to allow appellant to impeach the State’s star witness with a crime of dishonesty. Rule 609(a)(2) states that “evidence that any witness has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted if it involved if it involved dishonesty **or false statement**, regardless of the punishment.” Rule 609(a)(2), SCRE (emphasis added). Even though Rule 609(a)(2) envisions automatic admissibility of crimes of dishonesty and false statements, remote convictions are subject to a balancing test under Rule 609(b). See State v. Robinson, 426 S.C. 579, 594-95, 828 S.E.2d 203, 211 (2019). The balancing test to be used contains five factors and comes from State v. Colf, 337 S.C. 622, 525 S.E.2d 246 (2000). Id. Those five factors are: (1) impeachment value of the prior crime; (2) the point in time of the conviction and the witness’s subsequent history; (3) the similarity between the past crime and the charged crime; (4) the importance of the witness’s testimony; and (5) the centrality of the credibility issue. Id.

The trial court did not conduct a Colf analysis. The court erroneously focused on the fact that a conviction a mere four years outside of the ten-year limit was “way too remote.” Tr. 585, l. 6 – 11. Under the Colf analysis, Murray’s statement should have been admitted. First, the impeachment value of the crime was extremely high. Murray was convicted of lying to the police and his statements to the police immediately after the crime blaming Henry were critical in shifting suspicion away from himself. The conviction was not for a crime of dishonesty that included a false statement as one of its elements; it was for giving false statements itself.

The second and third Colf factors also weigh heavily in favor of admission. The conviction for false statement was only four years outside of the ten-year limit. Murray’s subsequent history does not show any subsequent transformation into a law-abiding citizen. He

had two other convictions for assault and battery. He had another drug conviction. He admitted to using illegal drugs. He also admitted to hiding evidence and tampering with the scene of the shooting. Hiding evidence and tampering with the scene is exactly the same as giving a false statement to the police. But for the surveillance video, Murray and Skyrme likely never would have admitted to hiding evidence. Murray's intent to deceive the police remained unchanged from 2006 to the day of the shooting.

The fourth and fifth Colf factors also weigh heavily in favor of admission. Murray's testimony was vital to the State's case. He claimed to see Henry shoot Azarigian in the head. He was the driver of the car and a potential suspect in the crime. The jury saw him and Skyrme on video collaborate to hide something from the police. It was essential that the jury believe his testimony to convict Henry. The trial court erred in refusing to allow the jury to hear that Murray had a previous conviction devastating to his credibility.

The State will likely argue that the error in this case is harmless. The specific error affected Murray's credibility which is central to the case. See Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018) (holding, in a PCR case where state asserted overwhelming evidence of guilt, that the error complained of must be analyzed for its specific impact). Furthermore, the investigation in this case was sloppy and consisted of a rush to judgment by the police as to Henry's guilt.

The police conducted no gunshot residue testing of Murray, Skyrme, or Henry. Tr. 593, l. 9 – 595, l. 14. Incredibly, the police did no gunshot residue testing of the gun to see if it had been recently fired. Tr. 318, l. 1 – 319, l. 5. They did not check for gunshot residue on the clothing in which the gun was wrapped. Tr. 319, l. 9 – 14. There were no scorch marks on the clothing that held the gun. Tr. 319, l. 19 – 320, l. 4.

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