RECEIVED

Jan 26 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Lexington County
The Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

JOSEPH RANDOLPH HENRY,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2020-001404

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

J. ANTHONY MABRY
Senior Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 11973
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

S. RICK HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit
205 East Main Street
Lexington, South Carolina 29072
(803) 785-8285

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

This Court held in State v. Mizzell, 341 S.C. 529, 535 S.E.2d 134 (Ct. App. 2000), *rev'd on other grounds* Mizzell, 349 S.C. 326, 563 S.E.2d 315;

Based on our reading of the rule, the trial court must make specific findings on the record only when *admitting* evidence of remote convictions. See United States v. Cavender, 578 F.2d 528, 532 (4th Cir.1978) (“We conclude that 609(b) requires the District Court, if it concludes to admit thereunder a conviction more than ten years old, to find that the probative value of such conviction ‘substantially outweighs’ its prejudicial impact and to support that finding with an identification of the ‘specific facts and circumstances’ which support its decision.”); Colf, 337 S.C. at 626, 525 S.E.2d at 248 (appellate court held that since Rule 609(b), SCRE, is identical to Rule 609(b), FRE, federal cases may be persuasive).”

Mizzell, 341 S.C. at 535, 535 S.E.2d at 137. This Court in Mizzell went on to point out there was a discussion on the record by the trial judge and what that discussion was and this Court concluded:

It is apparent from this discussion that, while the trial court did not expressly compare the probative value and prejudicial effect of the evidence before ruling it was inadmissible, the trial court did analyze these factors. Based on the trial court's analysis, it excluded the presumptively inadmissible evidence. We, therefore, find no abuse of the trial court's discretion.

Mizzell, 349 S.C. at 536-37. There was no abuse of discretion here. Judge Addy did compare the probative value and prejudicial effect of the presumptively inadmissible conviction and found on the record appellant had not shown the probative value of the evidence substantially outweighed its prejudicial effect. Further, Judge Addy *excluded* the evidence, *not admitted* it. Mizzell, *supra* at 535, 535 S.E.2d at 137.

Appellant did not give notice this crime was going to be used to impeach the witness until the morning the witness testified.⁹ (R. pp. 470-73). The State was unable to research the crime, but did interview the witness about the prior conviction and learned the conviction for providing false information to the police was based on him using a cousin's birth certificate to obtain a fake driver's license. In summary, Joshua used his cousin's birth certificate to obtain a fake i.d. Judge Addy, appropriately ruled, under Rule 609(b), SCRE, appellant could have hindered the State's ability to research the conviction because it did not provide notice until that day. (R. pp. 470-73). In fact, the issue was not raised to Judge Addy until after the witness was called to the stand before the jury, and a sidebar had to be held on the issue. (See R. pp. 426-27).

Judge Addy ruled if the conviction had been for actually providing false information during an actual police investigation of a crime, such as a homicide, he would have admitted it. (R. pp. 426-27; 470-73). Though it was a crime of dishonesty it was a misdemeanor, which resulted in a fine. Judge Addy noted, if it had been more like lying to police in an investigation, it may have tilted the scales the other way. (See R. p. 472-73). Because of what the prior offense was and its age, Judge Addy found it had "limited value" as impeachment, not the absence of any value. (R. p. 473). This is consistent with federal case law finding the probative value of the conviction dissipates with the passage of time. Beechum, 582 F.2d at 915 (*en banc*)(temporal remoteness depreciates the probity of the extrinsic offense). Given its age [remoteness] (14 years) and no proof the conviction was anything other than what the witness stated it was, Judge Addy

⁹ As an additional sustaining ground, Rule 609(b), SCRE, provides that evidence **is not admissible** if the party wishing to use the remote conviction does not provide adequate notice of the party's intent to use the conviction. Defense counsel did not argue below that he provided sufficient adequate notice, in fact conceded that he did not provide notice until that morning. Judge Addy also found counsel had not provided notice until that morning. Henry does not argue in his brief that he provided adequate notice under Rule 609(b). He avoids the subject. (See BOA, pp. 4-15).

appropriately ruled he would not allow that conviction to be used as impeachment but other convictions within the 10 year period could be used. *Rule 609(b), SCRE* (prior conviction of more than 10 years is not admissible to impeach a witness unless the trial court finds in the interest of justice supported by specific facts and circumstances the probative value substantially outweighs its prejudicial effect). *See also* Rule 403, SCRE (judge should also consider confusion of the issues, misleading the jury, etc.); Robinson, 426 S.C. 594, 828 S.E.2d at 210. The record shows Judge Addy did exactly what the Rules of Evidence and case law require. He considered the specific facts of the case and the conviction involved, its nature and timing, the importance of the witness' testimony, and other factors including Rule 609(b) itself, and weighed the probative value of admitting the remote conviction against the prejudice in admitting the remote conviction and found appellant Henry had not shown by specific facts and circumstances that the probative value of the remote conviction **substantially outweighed** any prejudice. Rule 609(b), SCRE; Black, *supra*; Rule 403, SCRE.

Henry argued below and on appeal that there was no proof or police report, that the conviction was for Joshua using his cousin's birth certificate to obtain a fake i.d.; however, this was Henry's fault. He could have researched this issue long before trial but did not do so. He could have provided the State with notice long before the morning the State called the witness to the stand, during the middle of the trial. If crucial as appellant asserts (IBOA, p. 11)-why did appellant rely on the absence of evidence-he complains he had not seen a "incident report." It was his obligation under Rule 609(b)(2) to show the specific facts justifying admission. *SCRE, Rule 609(b)*; Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 609 S.E.2d 520 (Under Rule 609(b) the proponent of the use of the conviction must show by specific facts and circumstances that the probative value substantially

outweighs any prejudice). As provided in Rule 609(b), Judge Addy appropriately found the proponent, Henry, did not meet his burden. (R. pp. 470-73).

Judge Addy also found appellant Henry's failure to provide sufficient notice, i.e. give the State a fair opportunity to investigate the matter to contest Henry's argument regarding the use of such evidence, probably caused Henry to not receive a police report. *See Rule 609(b)*("However, evidence of a conviction more than 10 years old as calculated herein, **is not admissible** unless the proponent gives the adverse party sufficient advance written notice of intent to use such evidence to provide the adverse party with a fair opportunity to contest the use of such evidence.")(emphasis added). This finding is completely supported by the record. (R. pp. 426-27; 570-73). It was not the State who caused Henry not to have any other evidence about the remote conviction; it was Henry. (R. pp. 426-27; 570-73). ("[A] party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct has induced." *State v. Babb*, 299 S.C. 451, 455, 385 S.E.2d, 827, 829 (1989).

Henry also tries to strictly apply *Colf*; the factors are modified for a "non-defendant" witness. *Colf* involved the impeachment of a defendant, so some of these factors must, as a practical matter, be adjusted for this particular case, which involves a lay witness. *See Id.* The factors simply do not fit neatly in regard to a lay witness because he is not on trial for an offense. Further, our Courts have repeatedly recognized: "These factors are not exclusive," and, "trial courts should exercise their discretion in light of the facts and circumstances of each particular case." *State v. Black*, 400 S.C. 10, 19, 732 S.E.2d 8809, **885-86** (2012). That is exactly what Judge Addy did. While he did not list out each of the *Colf* factors in his ruling, Judge Addy, knew the law and conducted the required analysis. The learned trial judge understood the balancing test and what he could and should consider. *See generally Ray v. State*, 310 S.C. 431, 427 S.E.2d 171 (1993) (judges are presumed to know the law). And, as previously stated he did *not admit* the

evidence he *excluded* it. Cavender, supra; Mizzell, supra. Likewise, our Supreme Court has advised that at a minimum, the trial court must not only state the ruling, but the “why.” Black, supra. Again, that is exactly what Judge Addy did. (R. pp. 426-27; 570-73).¹⁰

Respondent also disagrees with appellate counsel’s argument the factors weigh in favor of admissibility. They do not on this record. While Joshua had a prior conviction for providing false information to police, it was 14 years old. As Judge Addy found, it was way too remote. Appellant’s argument the conviction was *only 4 years* past the presumptively inadmissible deadline of 10 years is comical to say the least. The law recognizes the probative value of the conviction for impeachment purposes dissipates with time. Beechum, 582 F.2d at 915 (*en banc*)(temporal remoteness depreciates the probity of the extrinsic offense); Prejean, 2020 W.L. 2516369 (*Slip Copy*)(“The balancing scale Congress has given the courts is weighted against the finding that the probative value of a more than 10-year old conviction substantially outweighs its prejudicial effect.”)(quoting Cathey, supra and Bibbs, supra).

And, the conviction was for using a relative’s birth certificate to obtain a fake i.d. *See* Cavendar, supra (approving trial court, not jury, inquiring into the underlying nature of the conviction in conducting a probative/prejudice analysis and determining admissibility under 609); United States v. Lipscomb, 702 F.2d 1049, 1064 (D.C. Cir. 1983)(“A comparison of Rule 609(a)(1)

¹⁰ It should also be noted, while Henry objected below to Judge Addy’s exclusion of the evidence, at no time did he object to the sufficiency of the ruling on the ground Judge Addy did not conduct the appropriate analysis. State v. Stone, 376 S.C. 32, 36, 655 S.E.2d 487, 488-89 (2007)(“If a pitch was never thrown at trial, we cannot review whether the trial court made the proper call.”); State v. Vang, 353 S.C. 78, 85, 577 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2003)(finding any issue resulting from the trial judge’s failure to take a particular action was not preserved for appellate review because appellant did not ask the trial judge during trial to take the action appellant contended on appeal should have been taken.); State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003) (providing an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court in order to be preserved for appeal).

with Rule 609(b) strongly suggests that Rule 609(a)(1) does not require the district court always to inquire into the facts and circumstances underlying a prior felony conviction. Under Rule 609(b), a felony conviction more than 10 years old can be admitted only if ‘the probative value of the conviction *supported by specific facts and circumstances* substantially outweighs its prejudicial effect.’ (Emphasis added.) Rule 609(a)(1), in contrast, does not require that the probative value of the conviction be supported by specific facts and circumstances. We must presume that the omission was intentional.”)(emphasis in original); Cabera v. Marti, 2011 W.L. 13663168 (S.D.N.Y. 2011)(*not published in F.Supp.2d*)(“...the prejudice to plaintiff from the admission of a conviction that is already more than ten years old outweighs any probative value that the conviction has, as the facts underlying the conviction are radically different than those at issue in this case”). Further, the witness did not have another conviction for 6 years and 9 years and they were both for assault and battery, not similar to the remote conviction. He then had an arrest for possession and conspiracy to possess drugs in 2017. Joshua admitted he was a drug addict. Again, he had no conviction similar to the presumptively inadmissible conviction.

While Joshua’s testimony was important, he was not the only witness. Kaitlyn also witnessed the murder and testified to exactly what occurred. She identified Henry as the shooter. She corroborated Joshua’s testimony. Video evidence also identified Henry getting out of the back seat of the car immediately after the shooting, removing evidence, and leaving the scene and arriving at the shop. Both Kaitlyn and M.J. identified Henry as the person carrying the gun the night before. Henry was arrested in possession of the weapon attempting to leave town. Henry destroyed evidence of the crime and was captured on video destroying some of the evidence.

Finally, the witness, Joshua, who was appellant Henry’s friend, was impeached with the assault convictions and a drug arrests. The witness also admitted he instructed Kaitlyn to hide the

drugs he had on him at the time of the murder and any paraphernalia Kaitlyn had on her. And, he admitted he went back later and got those drugs so he would not be arrested for them. The witness also admitted he was a drug [meth] user. He also admitted on the stand that he lied to or misled police about hiding the drugs and drug paraphernalia when interviewed at the scene and/or at the police station. The witness was thoroughly impeached. As a result, the jury could judge his credibility appropriately.

Further, as noted, South Carolina recognizes the factors must be modified for a witness **and** the factors are not exclusive but the Court must look at all factors applicable to the specific circumstances of the case. Black, supra.

Judge Addy followed the appropriate Rule of Evidence, Rule 609(b), to the letter. There was no abuse of discretion by Judge Addy. Hunter v. Staples, 335 S.C. 93, 102, 515 S.E.2d 261, 266 (Ct. App. 1999) (affirming the trial court's exclusion of a prior conviction based on its finding that the conviction was not relevant and its prejudicial effect outweighed its probative value despite the court's failure to "specifically enunciate the factors involved in reaching his ultimate decision" because it was "evident the judge considered Rule 609(a)(1) in conjunction with the Rule 403 balancing analysis"). Judge Addy specifically found that based on the limited investigation the State was able to conduct, because of appellant Henry's late notice, and the defendant provided Judge Addy no other facts, appellant had not shown by *specific facts and circumstances* that the probative value of the remote conviction *substantially outweighed* the prejudice. Rule 609(b), SCRE; See State v. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 526, 552 S.E.2d 300 (2001)(trial court did not abuse his discretion in refusing to allow State's witness impeached with prior remote convictions). As a result, Judge Addy did not abuse his discretion in excluding the presumptively inadmissible 14 year old conviction. A trial court's decision regarding the comparative probative value and

prejudicial effect of relevant evidence will be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 580 S.E.2d 785 (Ct. App. 2003)(a trial court's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of relevant evidence will be reversed only in exceptional circumstances). See Hunter v. Staples, 335 S.C. 93, 515 S.E.2d 261 (a trial judge's balancing decision under Rule 403 should not be reversed simply because an appellate court believes it would have decided the matter otherwise because of a differing view of highly subjective factors of the probative value or the prejudice presented by evidence).

Harmless Error

Regardless, Judge Addy's ruling was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt on this record. State v. Broadnax, 414 S.C. 468, 478-79, 779 S.E.2d 789 (2015)(trial court's determination on whether or not to admit prior conviction for impeachment purposes is subject to harmless error analysis and that is determined by looking at all the evidence in the case and determining whether or not the defendant's guilt was conclusively proven by other competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion could be reached); State v. Brayboy, 401 S.C. 207, 214, 736 S.E.2d 679, 683 (Ct. App. 2012)(finding exclusion of conviction for impeachment purposes of witness was harmless error based on other evidence of defendant's guilt).

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